IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT :
' FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA  Filed Under Seal

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ¢ CRIMINALNO.15-39¢

v " :  DATEFILED: 8!'26}16
ZAHAR TKACH, _ : VIOLATIONS: '
~ alk/a “Alex Tkach” o ¢ - 18US.C. § 1347 (health care fraud -
' : - 15 counts) -

18 U.S.C. § 1516 (obstructlon ofa
federal audit - 2 counts)

18 U.S.C. § 1957 (laundermg
monetary mstruments over
$10,000 - 2 counts)

18 U.S.C. § 2 (aiding and abettmg)
Notice of forfeiture

INDICTMENT

COUNTS ONE TO FIFTEEN
- (Health Care Fraud)

| TPIE GRAND.JURY CHARGES THAT

At all times material to this indictment:

]LNTRODUCTION
A The Defendant and His Compames
1. Defendant ZAHAR TKACH, a/k/a “Alex Tkach” (ALEX TKACH), was the

owner, president and director of NovaCaréServices, Inc., doing bus.iness.as “NovaCarg
Ambulance Seryices” and “NovoCare Ambulance’; Glereilléﬁer, “Novocaré”) and Card_iacCare
» Ambulance; Inc. (hereinafter, “Cardiac Care”).
2. Novocare was a private'ambulance company,l incorporated in the |

Cbmmonwealth of Pennsylvania on or about June 1, 200.7,‘ under the name “NovaCare Services,



. Inc.” Novocare was initially located at 266 East Main Street,,Suite 5, Norristown, PA. On or about
August 27, 2007, Novocare was licensed by the Pennsylvania Department of Health to provide
Basic Life Support ambulance services in Philadelphia and the smrounding counties. Novocare
also operated paratransrt van services for patients who d1d not require transportation by |
ambulance. On or about October 2,2011, the address for Novocare was changed to 549 Foundry
Road, Norristown, PA.

3. . Cardiac Care was a private ambulance company, incorporated in ‘the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on or ‘about December 23,: 2008, and initially located at 328
.Maple Avenue, Section A 9, Horsham PA. On or about April 3, 2009, Cardiac Care was licensed
by the Pennsylvama Department of Health to prov1de Advanced Life Support and Basic Life-

. Support ambulance services in Philadelphia and the surroundmg counties. On or about July 20
2010, the address for Cardiac Care was changed to 549 Foundry Road, Nomstown PA.

4. .As owner and president of Novocare and 'Card.iac Care, defendant ALEX
TKACH was responsible for all operations of Novocare and Cardiac Care, including but not
limited to incorporation, licensure and enrollnient in Medicare, hiring and firing emp.loyees,
overseeing employees in medical business practices and record-keeping, maintaining and storing
medical and business records, buying and seiling equipment, recruiting and retaining patients,
reyiewing and submitting Medicare and other insurance reimbursements requests, and managing
and controlling the compames ﬁnances Defendant TKACH also observed his employees from
remote locations by closed- Cll’Clllt v1deo and audlo monitoring dev1ces embedded at the Novocare

and Cardiac Care ofﬁces at 549 Foundry Road, Nomstown PA



B. The Medicare Program -

5. Medicare was a federally-fmtded natiohat health insurance program
_admmlstered by the Centers for Medicare and Medxcaxd Services ("CMS"), an agency of the U. S
' Department of Health and Human Services. Medlcare was a “health care beneﬁt program,” as

defined by 18-U.S.C. § 24(Db).

6. - Medicar'e provided payment for feasonabte and medically oecessary medical -
serVices for the elderly and those with certaio disahilities inc.ludinor permanent kidney. failure.

7. 2 Medlcare had four component parts “A” through “D.” Part “B” pertamed to-
outpatient setv1ce and provided payment for medlcally necessary ambulance transportation,
'among other tlungs. Part “B” funds were distributed through a Medlcare Administrative
Contractor t‘;MAC”); a private company under contract with the federal government to hrocess

B ctaims for ,s.ervices. The MAC was responsible for reviewing application packages submitted by
health care providers that t’vished to participate in the Medicare program and to ‘mvake payments for
qualifying services under Medicare Part “B.” HighmarkMedicare Services was the MAC to
process and pay Medicare Part B claims in the Commonwealth of Pennsydvania.
| 8. | Qn or.about Qctober 3, 2007, Novocare was approved to participate asa
* Medicare provider. |
‘9. , Onor ahout April 3, 2009, Cardiac Care' was approved to participate asa
. Medicare provider. | | |
C.  Payment for Medicai'e Claims-to Providers
10.  All providers and suppliers of Medlcare Part B services were required to submit,

within one year from the date of service, claims to the MAC on behalf of Medicare beneﬁmanes



.1 1. 'Pro.viders were 'required to certify that(.l) the services provided were medically
_ necessary, (2) the services were personally provided by-the person signing the fonn,.or by one of
his/her 'employees acting under the signer’s direction, and (3) the information contained in the |
_ form was true, accurate, ‘and complete.- |

12.  Medicare paid for regularly-scheduled non emergency transportation to
certain locatxons mcludmg dialysis centers only if e1ther (a) the beneﬁcnary was bed~conﬁned
and it was documented that the beneficiary’s condition was such that other methods of
transportation (e.g., taxi, private car, wheelchair/para-nansit van or otber type of vehicle) were ,
contraindicated (that is, would endangcr the patxent’s health), or (b) the beneficiary’s medlcal
condition, regardless of bed-conﬁnement was such that transportatxon by ambulance was
medlcal ly requiréd. For a beneﬁcnary_to be “bed-confined,” the following criteria were required to
be met: (1) the beneficiary was unable to get up from bed without assistance; (2) the beneficiary
was unable to “ambulate” (that is, to walk with or W1thout assxstance) and (3) the. beneﬁmary was
unable to sit in a chair or wheelchalr | .

13, Medicare requlred ambulance providers to maintain recoras establishing that
ambulance transportation was meclically neces'sary and, upon request, such records must be made
avallable to Medxcare Required records mcluded a contemporaneous “trip sheet,” also known asa

“run sheet” or “patient care report,” which memonahzed the observatxons of the attendmg
' Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) about the patnent’s condition at the time of each plckup
Ambulance prov1ders were required to obtam a physician’s wrltten order, called a Certlﬁcate of
- Medlcal Necessity (“CMN”) per 1odxcally certlfymg the necessxty for ambulance transportatlon

for regularly-scheduled non-emergency transportatxon ‘such as dialysis treatments. A signed



CMN, or.the absence of a signed CMN, neither proved nor disproved that ambulance
transportation was medically necessary. In order to get Mt;:dicare reimbuisemt:nt for ambulance
' transponatton, the ambulance service had to meet all prdgram coverage conditions for each date of

service.

14. - Ambulancn tranéportation was covered only whén“the transportation was, in
fact, provided. |

15. " Medicare did not cover tfarispbntation in paratransit‘vans or 'vyheelchair vans.-

16. Fro'rn.on or about April 9, 2008, through on or about Ot:tob'er 16,2012, Medicare
' pald approxxmately $3,785,862 to Novocare for ambulance services. From on or about August 10,
2009, through on or about January 9, 2013 Medlcare pa1d approxunately $1, 364 130 to Cardlac
Care for ambulance services.

D.  The 'I\;Iedicare Audit

17. Sachuard Services Pennsylvania Benefit Integrlty Support Center (SGS) was
c;ontracted by CMS to pertorm Medlcare program mtegnty functlons SGS revmwed Medicare
clalms to ensure that services were adequately documented by the serv1c§ prov1der..as medlcally
necessary expenses wlticn were appropriately bilted to Medibaté.

18. On or.about June 7, 2011, SGS investigators made an unannouncéd onsite visit
to the Novocare office at'549 Foundry Road, Norristown, Pennsylvanita, and served Novocare with
notice to provide to SGS with docmn'entation of claims, including atnbulance trip sheets tmd
certificates of medical necessity, for approuimately 26 Novocare bgneﬁciaries t'or dates of service

from January 2, 2011, thtough March 15,2011,



.l 9 - On or about June 8,: 2011, SGS'investigators made'an unannounced onsite visit
to the Cardiac Care office at 549 F oundry Road, Norristown,— Pennsylvania, and served Cardiac
Cate with noticé to provide to SGS with documentation of claims; including ambulance trip slieets o
and certiﬁcates of medical nebessity for approximately 1‘9 émdiac Care beneﬁciarie's.for dates of
serv1ce from January 2, 201] through April 13 2011 | |

.20. On or about J uly 17,2011, defendant ALEX TKACH sent several hundred
: documents to SGS in response to the audlt. _ 4 | |
21, On or a_bout April 8, 2012, defendant ALEX TKACH sent supplementary and
_ additional documents to SGS fll response to the 'audit;

THE SCHEME TO DEFRAlJD'

Defendant ALEX TKACH directed and superwsed Novocare and Card:ac Care
employees to pr ov1de medlcally unnecessary ambulance transportatlon to d1alys1s patlents who
“could walk or be moved safely by paratransit van or other vehicle. Such pati ents were dnected onto
a stretclter, or were placed on a stretcher by ambulance employees, or were pennitted_ to walk with
and without assistance to and from the ambulance . -

23. Defendant ALEX TKACH caused the submission of fraudulent Medleale claims
| for Novocare and Cardiac Care for these medically unnecessaxy ambulance transportatlon
services. _ | ‘ | ' |

é4. * When audited by SGS in or about June 2011, defenclant ALEX TKACH created; -
alteted and falsified, and directed and sube_rvised the _creation, alteration and falsification of,

hundreds of Novocare and Cardiac Care trib sheets, originally prepared at each patient pickup by



thé attending Efnergency Medical Technicians (EMTs) aﬁd paratransit van drivers, and numerous
certificates of medical necessity (CMNSs), to falsely state, among other thiﬂgs, that:

| a. ;iialysis patients'mgdically required ambulance transportation When; in fact,
the patients could walk, sit in wheelchairs, and be safely transported by paratransit van; and,”

b. dialysis patients were transported by ambulance when, in fact, they were

transported by paratransit van. | |
- 25. Defendant ALEX TKACH; and agents and employees acting at his direction, .
submitted, and caused the submission of, fraudulently altered and falsified trip sheets and CMNs
to SGS in response to the audit 6f Novocare and Cardiac Care claims to Medicare.

26. Defendant ALEX TKACH concealed the‘original trip sheets, prepared at the '
time of each patient pickup by EMTs and paratransit drivers, inside a:closet'at 'fI_(ACH’s residence
- to prevent discovery of his fraud by Medicare auditors and law enfbrcemqnt agents. |

27. Onor abouvt April 19, 2012, defendant ALEX TKACH concealed at least
ai)prdximately $30,000 in cash in various locations iq his residence to prevent seizure of the funds
by law'enflorcement to repay. Medicare.

28.  As a result of this scheme, Medicare incurred losses totaling approximately
$1,250,930.

29.. From on or about Jung 26, 2008, through on or aboﬁt April 23,2012, at
Philadclpﬁia, i.n the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, défendant |

. ZAHAR TKACH,
a/l/a “Alex Tkach,” -

in connection with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items and services,

knowingly and willfully executed, and attembted to execute, and aided and abetted the execution



of, a scheme and aﬁiﬁce to defraud a health care'Beneﬁt p'rogramr, that is.,vMedicare, and to.obtain,
by mea'ns 6f false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, money and f)rpperty
. ownéd by and under the custody and cb_ntro] of said health care benefit program, in that the
 defendant causeﬂ .the subxﬁission of claims to Médicaré that falsely and fi'audulently sought
* reimbursement for ambulance transportatlon when such transportatlon was either not medlcally
_ necessary or not prowded at all, to each of the beneficiaries listed below in the approximate

amounts and on the approximate dates listed below, each claim constituting a separate count of this

in»di'ctment:.‘
Count | Patient Initials & Date of Service  Amount Paid Medicare.Cléim No.
Medica_’re,HIC No.' (on or about) | . (approx.) .
1 RA. | :
i 20111 $200.16 1111060389600
2 IC. 315/11 $219.92 1111068495570
x-3142A . 219.92 .|
3 S.C. = 14 © §179.50 1811024464910
x-0258A | ' :
40 R.J.. 2125/11 $204.55 1111089614830
x-3389A - 3. : |
5 D.K. ‘ : ~ ' '
A 1/10/11 $19551 | 1111049416430
6 © HS. . ' , o
D - | SI99.61 | 1111053481250
7 J.SF _ —
L 01614 3811 $197.97 | 1111073831800
8 1 IB 111 819295 | 1811027018740
: x-4135A | : . :
? 1B 12111 | .$197.86 - 1811038337760 -
. x-3926A : ' h : '
10 |- - C.G. ’ R A E
7901A | $197.86 1811089377540
11 C. M-O. '
NI 121/11 - $197.86 | 1811038337770
12 | FN. A o -
 seaA 31 $187.83 1811089377570



Amount Paid

Count | Patient .I.nitial,s & | Date of Service Medicare Claim No.
1. . | Medicare HIC No. | (on or about) (approx.) '
13 A.P. ‘ ) :
“1132A 1/26/11 - | $202.32 1811069259370
14 W.P. ‘ o
| 10524 1/12/11 $204.00 1111049416530
15 H.J. 12711 $22429 | 1111060389730

x-6122A

Allin Violatioq of Title 18, United States Codé, Sectioné 1347 and 2,




COUNT SIXTEEN :
(Obstruction Of A Federal Audlt)

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
| Atall times rr_1ater1al to this indietment:
1. Paragraphs 1 through 2'8 of Counts One through F iih’teen,.o.f this Indictment are
iﬁeorporated here. . | | ‘
2. From on or about June 7, 2011, to in or about April 2012, in the Eastern District of
‘Pennsylvania, and elsewhefe, defenelant | |

ZAHAR TKACH,
a/k/a “Alex Tkach_,”

| with intent to deceive and def_raud the United States, endea?ored te :inﬂuence, obstruct and impede
federal auditors in the performance of their‘ofﬁcial dutiee relating to ‘the receipt By NovaCare

. Services, Inc., doing business as NovaCare Ambulance Serviéeés and as Novéc&e Ambalance

: Servxces (“Novocare”) of more than $100, 000 in fedelal funds in a one year period. from claims

paid by Medlcare by prov1d1ng altered and falsified ambulance transportatlon records that is,

patient trip sheets and cemﬁcates of medical necess1ty, to con'ceal_ﬁ'om a federal aud}tor that

Novocare had submitted_ false and fratidaient claims to 'Medicare for ambulance trarisportafion
which was not medically n'_ecessary. '

In vielation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1516 and-2.

10



} - COUNT SEVENTEEN
(Obstruction Of A Federal Audit)

THE GRANi) J.'URY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

Atall timés material ;t'o this indicfm‘ent:

L | Paragraphs 1 through 28 of Counts One tlﬁdugh Fifteen of this Iﬁdictment are
incprboréted here. | |
' 2. From on or abou.t June 8, 201 1, to in or about April, 2012, in the Eastern District of
Pennsylvaﬁia, and elsewhere, defendant | |

ZAHAR TKACH,
a/k/a “Alex Tkach,”

with in;ent to decevive and defraud the United States; endeavored to influence, obstruc;c and impede
federal auditors iﬁ the performance of their official duties relating to the re@eipt b& Cardiac Care
Ambulance, Inc. (“Cardiac Care”) of more than $100,000 in federal ﬁnds in a one year period
from claims paid by Médicare, By providing altered and falsified ambulance transportation -
‘rec‘ords, that is, patient tr.ip sheets and certificates Vof xln.edical nécessity, to conceal from a federal
-auditor that Cardiac Care had submitted false and fraudulent glaims to Medicare for ambular_lce |
transportaﬁon which was not medically necessary. - |

In viblation of Title 18, United Statés'Cdde, Sections 1516 and 2. -

“ 11



* COUNT EIGHTEEN
(Laundering of Monetary Instrument Over S10 000)

. THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGDS THAT:
On or about December 15, 201 1, in the Eastern Dlstnct of Pennsylvama and elsewhere, :
defendant

ZEHAR TKACH,
a/k/a “Alex Tkach,”

knowingly engaged and attempted to engage in a monetary fcransaction, affecting interstate and

| foreign commerce, in criminally derivecl property of a value ;greater than $10,000, that is'
approx1mately $125,000. from NovaCare Ambulance Serwces Inc TD Bank account no. -
xxxxx5751, eheck no. 6554 such property havmg been derived from a spec:lﬁed unlawful act1v1ty,
that is, health care fraud, in v1olat10n of Title'18, Umted States Code, Section 1347

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957 and 2.

12



. . COUNTNINETEEN -
(Laundering of Monetary Instrument Over $10,000)

THE CRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
On or ab;)ut December 20, 2011, in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere,
defendant: -

ZEHAR TKACH,
a/k/a “Alex Tkach,”

knowingly engaged‘ an& attempted to engage in a monetary transaction, affecﬁng interstate and.
foreign commerce, in criminally dcﬁved broperty of a value greater than $.10,000,_ that is,
épproxirriately $100,000 from NovaCare Ambulance Services, Inc., TD Barik account no.
xxxxx5751, check no. ‘6556, such proi)garty having been derived from a specified unlawful activity,
that is, health care fraud, in violation of Title 18,- United States Code, Section 1347.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957 and 2.

13



NOTICE OF FORFEITURE NO 1
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
.. Asaresult of the violations of Title_ 18, United States Code; Section 13;17,
‘as set foﬁh~in this indictment, defendant |

ZAHAR TKACH
a/k/a “Alex Tkach”

shall forfeit to the United States' of America any property, real or personal, thet constitutes oris |
deﬁved,'directly or indirectly, frbm gross proceeds traceable te the violation of Title 18, United
States Code Sectlon 1347, as chm ged in the indictment. Such property shall include, but not- be .
hm1ted to, a forfeiture money Judgment that is, a sum of money equal to at least $1,250, 930 in
United States currency;

2, If any of the property subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission
of the defendant: | | |

a. camiof be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; ‘

d. has been subsiantially diminished in value; or |

€. hes been commingled with other propefty which cannot be divided
without difficulty; . |

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b),
incorporating Title 21, United States Code Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any othel property
of the defendant up to the value oi the ploperty subject to forfeiture.

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7).

14



" NOTICE OF FORFEITURE NO. 2

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
1. . As aresult of the violations.of Title 18, Unifed States Code, Section 1957,
as set forth in this indictment, defendant

ZAHAR TKACH
a/k/a “Alex Tkach”

- shall forfeit to the United States of Ameﬁca any property, real or personal; that constitutes or is
derived, directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the violation of Title. 18, United
States Code, Section 1957, as 'charge'd4in the indictment. Such property shall include, buf not be
limited to,a forfeiture moneyjﬁdgment, that is, a sum of money eqqal to at least $225,000 in

United States currency;

2. If any of the property subject fo forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission
~ ofthe defendant: | | |
| a. . cannot be'loc‘ated,upon the exercise of due diligenceA;
b has been transferred or sold to, or depositéd v;/ith, a third party;
.C. has been piaced beyond the jurisdiction qf the Court; |
- d. hasv been substantially di'minished in value;lor |
e. has beén cbmmingled with other property which cannot be divided -
withquf difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b), -
incorporating Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property

o of the defendant up to the value of the property subject to forfeiture.

15



All pursuant to"Title 18, United States Code, Sectior 982(a)(1).

_ ATRUE BILL:

GRAND JURY FOREPERSON

16 . -



